1988

Jeanna M. Dalley v. Utah Valley Regional Medical Center; IHC Hospitals, Inc., dba Utah Valley Regional Medical Center; Howard R. Francis, M.D.; Kent R. Gammett, M.D.; Provo Obstetrics And Gynecology Clinic; And James P. Southwick, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The trial court dismissed plaintiff's complaint on the defendants' motions for summary judgment. The Order of dismissal was entered on August 18, 1988. (R. 223-25.) This is an appeal as of right from that ruling. Plaintiff filed her notice of appeal on August 30, 1988. (R. 228-29.) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i) (1987).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is it within the common knowledge of laymen that a patient undergoing an elective cesarian section operation does not become seriously burned on her lower right leg during the course of the operation in the absence of negligence?

2. Where several defendants jointly operate on a patient and control all aspects of the operation, and where the patient

is burned by an unknown instrumentality during the course of the operation, may all of the defendants be held liable for the resulting injuries?

3. May a patient who has suffered a physical injury also recover for the resulting mental trauma?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a medical malpractice action for physical and mental injuries suffered by plaintiff as a result of the defendants' negligence.

B. Course of Proceedings.

Plaintiff filed her complaint on January 28, 1987, seeking recovery for injuries resulting from defendants' negligence during surgery which occurred on February 5, 1985. (R. 1-3.) Defendant Southwick filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on April 18, 1988. (R. 69-71.) Defendants Francis, Gammett, and Provo Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinic filed a Motion for Summary Judgment; or, in the Alternative, for Partial Summary Judgment on May 23, 1988. (R. 100-02.) The hospital defendants filed their Motion for Summary Judgment of Defendants' [sic] Utah Valley Regional Medical Center and IHC Hospitals, Inc. on June 10, 1988. (R. 160-62.) Each of the motions for summary judgment asserted that plaintiff could not prevail on her medical malpractice claim without an expert witness on the issue of

negligence, and also that the claims for emotional injury were not recognized in Utah.

On June 14, 1988, plaintiff filed a Motion in Limine seeking a determination that "a person who enters a hospital operating room for the purpose of a cesarean section does not emerge therefrom with a full thickness burn on the lower right leg without someone being negligent." (R. 172-73.)

All of the motions were argued before the trial court on July 22, 1988. (R. 232-33.) On August 1, 1988, the trial court issued its ruling granting the defendants' motions for summary judgment. (R. 219-21; copy attached in Appendix "A".) A formal Order granting the defendants' motions and denying plaintiff's Motion in Limine was entered on August 18, 1988. (R. 223-25; copy attached in Appendix "B".) Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal on August 30, 1988. (R. 228-29.)

C. Statement of Facts.

On February 5, 1985, plaintiff underwent an elective cesarean section operation at Utah Valley Regional Medical Center. (R. 2 para. 4-5; R. 17 para. 3-4; R. 30 para. 4-5; R. 35 para. 1, 3.) Her attending physician was Dr. Francis (Deposition of Jeanna M. Dalley (R. 239) ("Dalley Deposition") at page 9), and he was assisted by Dr. Gammett and some nurses. (Dalley Deposition at 10.) Dr. Southwick was the anesthesiologist. (R. 85, 73.)

During the course of the operation, a burning smell became apparent in the operating room, and at least two nurses asked

"what's burning." (Deposition of Terry Peebles (R. 241) ("Peebles Deposition") at 9, 17.; Deposition of Kimberly Gallagher (R. 240) ("Gallagher Deposition") at 12.) After the surgery and while still in the operating room, it was discovered that plaintiff had two black burns on her lower right leg, one about the size of a dime, the other about the size of a half-dollar. (Dalley Deposition at 19; Peebles Deposition at 12; Gallagher Deposition at 11-12.) The sores had not been present immediately before the surgery. (Gallagher Deposition at 7; see also Dalley Deposition at 22, 25, 46.)

Dr. Francis examined the sores while plaintiff was in the hospital and said they appeared to be burns. (Dalley Deposition at 24.) Dr. Gammett examined the sores a few days after the operation and stated that they were not normal. (Dalley Deposition 21-22.) Several nurses also examined the sores. (Dalley Deposition at 23.) None of the nurses or doctors prescribed any treatment for the sores. (Dalley Deposition at 28-29.)

Although the smaller sore healed itself, the larger sore broke open and appeared blistered. (Dalley Deposition at 28.) Skin grafts were eventually required on the larger sore (id.), which are resulted in scarring at the site of the donor skin. (R. 31.) Plaintiff also suffered significant emotional injuries as a result of the physical injuries and the defendants' treatment of her. (Dalley Deposition at 31-32.) Plaintiff commenced this action to recover for those injuries.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While expert testimony is generally required in a medical malpractice case to establish the standard of care and a breach thereof, an exception to that rule exists where the propriety of the treatment received is within the common knowledge and experience of laymen. It is within the common knowledge and experience of laymen that a person does not receive a burn to her lower leg during a routine cesarean section operation unless someone was negligent. Expert testimony on this issue was not required. Plaintiff was entitled to rely on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*, even though there were multiple defendants.

Subsequent to the trial court's dismissal of this action, this Court has recognized a cause of action to recover for negligently inflicted emotional injury. The trial court's dismissal of plaintiff's claims for emotional injury was error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

EXPERT TESTIMONY WAS NOT REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH THAT A BURN TO AN UNRELATED PART OF THE BODY DURING AN OPERATION DOES NOT OCCUR WITHOUT NEGLIGENCE.

The nature of medical treatment is such that it is beyond the understanding and knowledge of the average citizen. Unfavorable results can occur even where the best of care was given. As a general rule, therefore, expert testimony is required in a medical malpractice case to establish whether the defendants breached the applicable standard of care. Marsh v.

Pemberton, 10 Utah 2d 40, 347 P.2d 1108 (1959), overruled on other grounds, Swan v. Lamb, 584 P.2d 814, 817 (Utah 1978). Certain exceptions to this general rule have been widely recognized:

[O]rdinarily, expert testimony is necessary as to the standard of skill and care required of a physician because that is usually outside the knowledge and experience of lay persons. However, there is a well-recognized exception to that rule: when the impropriety of treatment complained of is of such a nature that lay persons could judge from common knowledge and experience that such an injury would not happen if there had been proper skill and care, expert testimony is not necessary.

Kim v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1270, 1271 (Utah 1980) (citing Prosser, Law of Torts, sec. 39 (4th ed. 1971), other citations omitted). See also Nixdorf v. Hicken, 612 P.2d 348, 352 (Utah 1980).

The opinions in Kim and Nixdorf state that a typical example of injuries within the exception to the rule is where medical supplies or equipment is left in the patient. The opinions do not, however, limit the exception to only forgotten instrument cases. Prosser, cited in Kim, gives other examples of cases within the exception to the rule as follows:

When an operation leaves a sponge or implement in the patient's interior, or removes or injures an inappropriate part of his anatomy, or when a tooth is dropped down his windpipe, or the patient suffers a serious burn from a hot water bottle, or when instruments are not sterilized, the thing speaks for itself without the aid of any expert's advice.

W. Keeton, D. Dobbs, R. Keeton, & D. Owen, Prosser and Keeton on

the Law of Torts § 39 at p. 256-57 (5th ed. 1984)(emphasis added, footnotes omitted).

For example, in Schaffner v. Cumberland County Hospital System, Inc., 77 N.C. App. 689, 336 S.E.2d 116 (1985), review denied, 316 N.C. 195, 341 S.E.2d 578 (1986), the patient's right hand was burned during ear surgery, apparently by sparks from a malfunctioning machine used to cauterize blood vessels. The plaintiff did not present any expert testimony to establish that the burn was a result of negligence. The court stated:

While undoubtedly risks are inherent in the medical treatment plaintiff received, a jury, based on common knowledge and experience, could reasonably conclude that a burn on a portion of her body not involved in the surgery was not among those risks, and that, but for the negligence of some person(s) in control of her person and the instrumentalities used in her treatment, she would not have been injured.

Id. at 118-19.

Similarly, in Wiles v. Myerly, 210 N.W.2d 619 (Iowa 1973), the plaintiff suffered burns on his buttocks following vascular surgery. The Court stated:

Common knowledge and experience teach us that in the ordinary course of events one undergoing surgery does not sustain an unusual injury to a healthy part of his body not within the area of the operation in the absence of negligence.

Id. at 626. See also Beaudoin v. Watertown Memorial Hospital, 32 Wis.2d 132, 145 N.W.2d 166, 169 (1966)(burn to buttocks during a D & C operation); Hill v. Highland Hospital, 530 N.Y.S.2d 381 (App. Div. 1988)(anesthesiologist may be held

liable under res ipsa loquitur); Carranza v. Tucson Medical Center, 135 Ariz. 490, 662 P.2d 455 (Ct. App. 1983) (burn on leg following heart surgery).

In the instant case, it is also within the common knowledge of man that a patient does not develop serious burns on the lower leg during a cesarean section operation, unless someone has been negligent. Plaintiff was entitled to rely on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

POINT II

RES IPSA LOQUITUR MAY BE APPLIED AGAINST MULTIPLE DEFENDANTS.

The defendants claimed before the trial court that plaintiff could not recover absent proof specifically linking her injuries to a particular defendant. The inability to provide such proof, however, is one of the very reasons for the existence of the res ipsa loquitur doctrine. The majority of courts addressing the issue have held that res ipsa loquitur may be applied to invoke an inference of negligence against multiple defendants. Schaffner v. Cumberland County Hospital System, Inc., 77 N.C. App. 689, 336 S.E.2d 116, 120-21 (1985), review denied, 316 N.C. 195, 341 S.E.2d 578 (1986) (citations omitted).

The dictum in Talbot v. Dr. W. H. Groves' Latter-day Saints Hospital, Inc., 21 Utah 2d 73, 440 P.2d 872, 874 (1968), cited by the defendants to the trial court, does not establish a contrary rule. The plaintiff in that case was under the care of

the various defendants at different times, which was a critical factor in the Court's decision:

In this case the plaintiff asks the court to extend the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to a situation where a number of people had control or partial control of the plaintiff during surgery and thereafter, and where his injury may have occurred by the act or omission of any one of them, and outside the observation of the others.

Id. (emphasis added).

In the instant case, in contrast, plaintiff's injury occurred in the operating room, and each of the defendants was present at the time it occurred. The application of res ipsa loquitur is proper under such circumstances.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF MAY RECOVER FOR EMOTIONAL INJURIES.

Defendants moved for summary judgment against plaintiff's claims for emotional injury on the ground that such claims were barred by Reiser v. Lohner, 641 P.2d 93 (Utah 1982). In Johnson v. Rogers, 763 P.2d 771 (Utah 1988), the Court reexamined the issue of recovery for negligently inflicted emotional injuries, and abandoned the anachronistic rule of Reiser. Plaintiff stated a valid claim for emotional injuries, and should be allowed to present that claim to a jury.