1988

Jeanna M. Dalley v. Utah Valley Regional Medical Center; IHC Hospitals, Inc., dba Utah Valley Regional Medical Center; Howard R. Francis, M.D.; Kent R. Gammett, M.D.; Provo Obstetrics And Gynecology Clinic; And James P. Southwick, M.D. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The trial court dismissed plaintiff's complaint on the defendants' motions for summary judgment. The order of dismissal was entered on August 18, 1988 and plaintiff filed her notice of appeal on August 30, 1988. (R. 223-25, 228-29.) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i) (1987).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether plaintiff may apply the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to multiple defendants, including Dr. Southwick who was not in a position to cause or prevent the kind of injury the plaintiff alleges.

2. Whether plaintiff's claims for medical malpractice fail as a matter of law without expert testimony establishing that defendant's conduct more probably than not caused plaintiff's injuries.

3. Whether a patient alleging medical negligence may recover for emotional distress unrelated to any personal injury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medical malpractice action arising out of care rendered to plaintiff Jeanna Dalley at Utah Valley Hospital on February 5, 1985. The plaintiff, in her complaint filed January 28, 1987, claims she was burned on her right leg while she was anesthetized for an elective caesarian section.

(R. 1-3.) Each of the individual defendants moved for summary judgment alleging plaintiff could not prevail on her medical malpractice claim without either expert testimony regarding negligence and causation or a sufficient evidentiary foundation to support the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur and also on the basis that the claims for emotional injury were not recognized in Utah. (R. 69-71, 100-02, 160-62.)

On June 14, 1988, plaintiff filed a motion in limine asking for judicial notice of a question of law. (R. 172-73.) Defendants filed reply memoranda in opposition to plaintiff's motion in limine and the court heard argument on both the motion in limine and the motions for summary judgment on

July 22, 1988. (R. 178-88, 301-7, 232-33.) On August 1, 1988, the trial court concluded the **evidentiary** foundation for the application of **res ipsa loquitur** **was** not met. In its ruling the court stated:

Here, plaintiff has failed to establish sufficient foundation for the application of **res ipsa loquitur** and has failed to produce expert medical testimony and since this is not an exceptional case, **res ipsa loquitur** does not apply. Even assuming the jury would infer negligence by some body [sic], if they believed plaintiff had no burn when she arrived at the hospital, the failure to show **what** instrumentality caused the burn and which defendant(s) controlled that instrumentality would still leave us without any specific culpable party or parties. Therefore, the application of **res ipsa loquitur** in this matter is inappropriate. (R. 220-21; copy attached in Appendix "A.")

Judge Ballif signed the order granting defendants' motions and denying plaintiff's motion in limine on August 18, 1988. (R. 223-25.) Plaintiff filed her notice of appeal on August 30, 1988. (R. 228-29.)

The facts of this case with regard to defendant Dr. Southwick, are undisputed: (1) Dr. Southwick was the anesthesiologist; (2) his sole function was to administer and to monitor anesthesia during surgery; (3) he performed his responsibilities competently; (4) at no time was Dr. Southwick near the patient's legs; and (5) at no time was Dr. Southwick in "control" of any "instrumentality" which could possibly have caused burns on the patient's calf. (See Affidavit of Dr. Southwick attached as Exhibit "B.")

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff may not rely on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* to create an inference of negligence absent a showing that the accident was of a kind which in the ordinary course of events would not have happened had the defendant(s) used due care, that the instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant(s), and that the accident happened irrespective of any participation at the time of the plaintiff. In this case, neither plaintiff nor defendants can identify the offending instrumentality and there is no evidence regarding management or control thereof. To apply the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* to the scant facts of this case would contradict established Utah case law and create strict liability without fault for the named physicians. In addition, even if this case justified application of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*, plaintiff would still be required to produce expert testimony regarding causation. Without such expert testimony, plaintiff has failed to establish the *prima facie* elements of a claim for medical malpractice and defendants are entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

Further, plaintiff cannot recover for negligent infliction of emotional distress that is not related to any physical injury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR CANNOT BE APPLIED TO THIS DEFENDANT.

In order to rely upon res ipsa loquitur a plaintiff must first establish a sufficient evidentiary foundation to support application of the doctrine and its inference of negligence. The circumstances supplying that foundation have been enumerated by the Utah courts as follows:

The rule . . . is applicable when: (1) the accident was of a kind which, in the ordinary course of events would not have happened had the defendant used due care; (2) the instrument or thing causing the injury was at the time of the accident under the management and control of the defendant; and (3) the accident happened irrespective of any participation of the plaintiff.

Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, 740 P.2d 262, 265 (Utah App. 1987) citing Moore v. James, 5 Utah 2d 91, 96, 297 P.2d 221, 224 (1956). Clearly, in the present case, plaintiff has failed to establish the necessary evidentiary foundation to support application of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

The case at bar is directly analogous to Talbot v. Groves Latter-day Saints Hospital, 21 Utah 2d 73, 440 P.2d 872 (1968), (copy attached as Exhibit "C") which involved a patient who discovered an arm injury once he recovered consciousness after a back operation. The physician did not recall the particular

surgery and the record in the Talbot case "was silent as to what, if anything, went on while the patient was in the recovery room and the length of time the plaintiff was there and who was in charge during that period." Id. at 873. After it was discovered that Talbot was having some difficulty with his right arm, he was referred to a neurologist who testified the probable cause of the damage to the nerves could have been caused by a lack of blood supply to the nerves. The neurologist was unable to arrive at any definitive cause for the impairment of the blood supply in this case and none of the physicians involved could explain the cause of the plaintiff's disability.

The plaintiff in the Talbot case did not claim that the defendants were guilty of specific acts or omissions amounting to negligence, but he did contend that he was entitled to the benefit of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur on the basis that his injury would not have occurred without negligence on the part of someone and that he was within the control of the defendants when he suffered the injury. The defendants claimed that the foundational facts were insufficient to permit application of the doctrine.

The Utah Supreme Court held:

In examining the facts of the case before us, we are of the opinion that there is insufficient foundation on which to base the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. The fact plaintiff's disability resulted from an uncommon or rare occurrence does not release him from the burden of establishing causation. An inference of

negligence cannot be permitted solely upon the basis that the plaintiff developed a rare complication while undergoing medical and surgical treatment. The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur has no application unless it can be shown from past experience that the occurrence causing the disability is more likely the result of negligence than some other cause.

Id. at 873.

In Talbot, as in the case at bar, the plaintiff sought to recover against each of the defendants by showing that at one time or another during his treatment at the hospital one or the other of the defendants was in charge of him. However, the plaintiff did not attempt to show that the injury to his arm occurred while he was in the care of a particular defendant or defendants. Further, the testimony produced by the plaintiff failed to show the thing, instrument or occurrence which caused the plaintiff's disability. In addition, there was no testimony establishing which of the defendants had the responsibility for the instrumentality which caused plaintiff's disability. The Court held:

The plaintiff's case in [the foregoing respects] fails to meet the standards for the application of the doctrine as set forth in prior decisions of this Court. In this case the plaintiff asked the court to extend the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to a situation where a number of people had control or partial control of the plaintiff during surgery and thereafter, and where his injury may have occurred by the act or omission of any one of them, and outside the observation of the others. It would seem to us that such an extension to the doctrine would be

unwarranted and it would be using the doctrine to accomplish a result without regard to its limitations.

Id. at 874, footnotes omitted.

It is interesting to note that appellant attempts to rely on the dissenting opinion in the Talbot case rather than the majority or the concurring opinion. Specifically, Justice Henriod in his concurring opinion disagreed with the dissent and its reliance on Ybarra v. Spangard, "which has been honored only for its dissonance with common law fundamentals" and "which has been followed only by emotion, - not reason, logic or the application of legal principles." 440 P.2d at 874.

Further, Justice Henriod's concurring opinion specifically distinguishes Beaudoin v. Watertown Memorial Hospital, a case relied upon in appellant's brief, as a case in which the "focal point was not so much *res ipsa loquitur*, but stated that the facts indicated that laymen could decide the matter without expert opinion and that the defendants had complete control."

Id. at 875. He went on to state:

That is not the case here, where the facts did not reflect who had control, but guessed about that phase of the case by simply saying somebody had control and that everybody joined in the action should pay.

Id.

Justice Henriod warned that application of such "dichotic, disarming and dissonant dictum" as relied on in the dissenting opinion would result in "liability without fault." Id.

The precedent established in Talbot has never been altered and the decision has been cited frequently since its publication. See, for example, Vanderwater v. Hatch, 835 F.2d 1035, 1038 (10th Cir. 1987) (applying Utah law); Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 740 P.2d 262, 265, 266 (Utah App. 1987); Ballow v. Monroe, 699 P.2d 719, 721, 722 (Utah 1985); Allen v. United States, 588 F.Supp. 247, 407 (D. Utah 1984); Schmidt v. St. Joseph's Hospital, 736 P.2d 135, 138 (N.M. App. 1987) Nixdorf v. Hicken, 612 P.2d 348, 352, 353 (Utah 1980).

In sum, here, as in Talbot, plaintiff has failed to prove the existence of essential facts necessary to bring the rule into operation as to this defendant; specifically, plaintiff has presented no evidence of exclusive control and management of an instrumentality which caused the injury complained of by the patient. Similarly, in Barrett v. Emanuel Hospital, 669 P.2d 835 (Or. App. 1983) a surgical patient brought an action against the surgeons, anesthesiologist, hospital and professional corporation to recover damages allegedly suffered as a result of knee surgery. The Court addressed the identical issue presented here: whether res ipsa loquitur can permit an inference of negligence against all defendants notwithstanding plaintiff's stated inability to prove that the negligence of any particular defendant or defendants was the probable cause of the patient's injuries and notwithstanding plaintiff's

failure to show which of the several possible instrumentalities caused the injury and which of the several defendants had exclusive control over any particular instrumentality.

The Barrett court concluded:

[T]he availability of the res ipsa loquitur inference is contingent on the plaintiff's showing that the injury was probably caused by some negligent conduct of a particular defendant or defendants. . . . The requirement of the defendant's connection with the harm is fundamental in any decision of the element of "control" in res ipsa loquitur . . . The second requirement for res ipsa loquitur is commonly stated in terms of defendant's exclusive control of the injuring agency. The logical basis for this requirement is simply that it must appear that the negligence of which the thing speaks is probably that of defendant and not of another. . . .

Reduced to essentials, the rule adopted in Ybarra and the rule plaintiffs urge us to adopt is simply that anything a plaintiff cannot prove about a defendant's conduct in an operating room should be inferable. In our view, that rule is contrary to what the Oregon cases have consistently and correctly stressed: the only inference res ipsa loquitur permits is the ultimate fact of negligence, and that inference is permitted only when the plaintiff is able to establish by proof, inter alia, the probability that a particular defendant's conduct was the cause of the plaintiff's harm.

669 P.2d 839-840, cites omitted, emphasis in original.

Based on the lack of evidence presented by plaintiff, a jury could only speculate as to causal negligence, as to who, as to what, as to how, and as to when the alleged injury may have occurred. Further, there is absolutely no reason to hold Dr. Southwick in this case as there is no evidence that the

requisite standard of care was not met nor any evidence that Dr. Southwick's conduct caused injuries to the plaintiff. He cannot be held liable for plaintiff's injuries simply because he was in the same room for a short period of time. Consequently, there is no evidence creating a genuine issue of any material facts on the elements of plaintiffs negligence claim and the trial court's decision to grant defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment should be affirmed. Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, 740 P.2d at 264, citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, ___ U.S. ___, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2553, 91 L. Ed.2d 265 (1986).

POINT II

THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR DOES NOT OBVIATE THE NEED FOR EXPERT TESTIMONY REGARDING CAUSATION.

To establish a prima facie claim for medical malpractice, plaintiff must prove, through competent expert testimony, the defendant deviated from recognized and accepted medical standards and that such a deviation caused plaintiff's injuries. Hoopiiaina v. Intermountain Health Care, 740 P.2d 270 (Utah App. 1987). Thus, even if "exceptional circumstances" justify an inference of negligence, plaintiff still must produce competent expert testimony regarding causation.

As the Utah Appellate Court recently noted in Chadwick v. Nielsen, 94 Utah Adv. Rep. 45, 47 (1988):

The Utah Supreme Court [in Nixdorf] held that jurors could determine the standard of care the doctor was required to follow without expert medical testimony because it is common knowledge that reasonable medical practitioners do not leave surgical instruments inside their patients' bodies and then keep it a secret.

However, the Court noted the scope of the Nixdorf exception is often misinterpreted; plaintiff must still produce competent expert testimony that the negligence complained of proximately caused the injuries.

Th[e] Nixdorf exception expressly obviates the need for expert testimony only in establishing the standard of care and breach of that standard by the doctor. The medical malpractice plaintiff must still ordinarily provide expert testimony, as did the Nixdorf plaintiff, to establish that the doctor's negligence proximately caused plaintiff's injury.

94 Utah Adv. Rep. at 47 citing Nixdorf, 612 P.2d at 354 n. 17; Anderson v. Nixon, 139 P.2d 216, 220 (Utah 1943).

Thus, such expert testimony is critical on the issue of causation, an element which must be separately established by the plaintiff in order to prevail in a medical malpractice case.

Res ipsa loquitur is an evidentiary doctrine aiding in the proof of negligence; it has no bearing on the issue of causation, which must be separately and independently established. As in any negligence action, a legally-recognizable causal link must be established between defendant's act or omission and plaintiff's injury. Absent such a causal relationship, defendant's conduct, negligent or otherwise, gives rise to no liability. Res ipsa loquitur does not

relieve plaintiff of this obligation; rather, it permits him, in lieu of linking his injury to a specific act on defendant's part, to causally connect it with an agency or instrumentality, under the exclusive control of the defendant, functioning in a manner which, under the circumstances, would produce no injury absent negligence. However, where the agency or instrumentality is not established to be the cause of plaintiff's injury, or where it is not shown to be under the exclusive control of the defendant, the causal connection is not established, and inference of negligent conduct giving rise thereto is nullified.

Anderton v. Montgomery, 607 P.2d 828, 834 (Utah 1980),
footnotes omitted, emphasis added.

Thus, even if the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur were to apply, plaintiff would still be required to produce competent expert testimony regarding causation. This, she has failed to do. Consequently, the second tenet of a medical malpractice claim has not been established and the granting of defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment should be affirmed.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF CANNOT RECOVER FOR NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.

Plaintiff claims to have sustained "severe emotional distress" for complaints unrelated to any personal injury resulting from care rendered by the defendants. The Utah Supreme Court has never recognized a cause of action for the negligent infliction of emotional distress under the

circumstances presented in this case. The case most directly on point, Reiser v. Lohner, 641 P.2d 93 (Utah 1982), involved an appeal of the trial court's ruling in favor of defendant's motion for summary judgment as to plaintiff's cause of action for emotional distress. In holding that the grant of summary judgment was proper, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

It is well established in Utah that a cause of action for emotional distress may not be based upon mere negligence. In Samms, this Court held as follows:

Our study of the authorities, and of the arguments advanced, convinces us, that conceding such a cause of action, may not be based upon mere negligence, the best considered view recognizes an action for severe emotional distress, though not accompanied by bodily impact or physical injury, where the defendant intentionally engaged in some conduct toward the plaintiff . . . ; and his actions are of such a nature as to be considered outrageous and intolerable in that they offend against the generally accepted standards of decency and morality. (Citing § 46, 1948 Supplement to the Restatement of Torts.)

641 P.2d at 100; citing, Samms v. Eccles, 11 Utah 2d 289, 358 P.2d 344 (1961); Jeppsen v. Jensen, 47 Utah 536, 155 P. 429 (1916).

Plaintiff attempts to rely on the recent case of Johnson v. Rogers, 90 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (1988) in an attempt to support her claim for recovery based on emotional distress. While it is true the Johnson court "deliberately departed" from the approach taken in Reiser v. Lohner and "chose to address the

question anew," the facts and conclusions reached by the Johnson court are inapposite to the facts of this case. 90 Utah Adv. Rep. at 8.

In the Johnson case, plaintiffs sought compensatory damages for the wrongful death of their child, as well as for emotional distress and physical injury to the father. The facts of that case differ significantly from the present case in that the father and son were standing on a curb, waiting for the "walk" signal when defendant's truck crossed the intersection and jumped the curb hitting the boy and injuring the father. The Court focused on the "zone of danger" line of cases and concluded:

I would hold that one may recover for the negligent infliction of emotional distress when one was in the zone of danger created by the negligence and suffered a physical impact.

Id. at 10.

Thus, the Johnson decision does nothing to support plaintiff's attempt to recover for emotional distress absent any showing of outrageous, intolerable or deliberate misconduct on the part of any of the defendants as required by prior case law.

Furthermore, at the time plaintiff filed her complaint in January of 1987, there was no recovery for alleged emotional distress recognized in the State of Utah. The Johnson Court

did not give its holding retroactive effect; therefore, Reiser would apply and bar plaintiff's claim.

CONCLUSION

Under Utah law, in order for the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to apply, plaintiff must show how the injury occurred and who controlled the instrument causing the injury. Absent such a showing, plaintiff cannot rely on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur to create an inference of negligence. Further, even if the facts were sufficient to warrant application of the doctrine, plaintiff would still be required to produce competent expert testimony that the cause of plaintiff's injuries were more likely than not due to the negligent conduct of the defendant. Without a sufficient evidentiary framework and alternatively without expert testimony regarding causation, the lower court's ruling granting defendant James P. Southwick's motion for summary judgment should be affirmed.